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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT 

 
PLAINTIFF, Individually and on Behalf of all 
Others Similarly Situated, 
 
                                               Plaintiff, 
 
                  v. 
 
EUGENE SEYMOUR, ANIL DIWAN and 
NANOVIRICIDES, INC., 
     
                                                Defendants. 
 

No. DRAFT 
 
 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
FOR VIOLATIONS OF FEDERAL 
SECURITIES LAWS 
 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
 

 
PLAINTIFF, by and through his undersigned attorneys, alleges the following upon 

information and belief, except as to those allegations concerning Plaintiff, which are alleged 

upon personal knowledge. Plaintiff’s information and belief is based upon, among other things, 

his counsel’s investigation, which includes without limitation: (a) review and analysis of 

regulatory filings made by NanoViricides, Inc. (ANanoViricides@ or the ACompany@) with the 

United States Securities and Exchange Commission (ASEC@); (b) review and analysis of press 

releases and media reports issued by and disseminated by NanoViricides; and (c) review of other 

publicly available information concerning NanoViricides. 

SUMMARY OF THE ACTION 
 

1. This is a securities class action on behalf of all purchasers of NanoViricides 

securities between February 19, 2013 and February 10, 2014, inclusive (the AClass Period@), 

seeking to pursue remedies under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the AExchange Act@).  

2. NanoViricides is a nano-biopharmaceutical company, engaged in the discovery, 

development and commercialization of therapeutics for the treatment of viral infections. The 
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Company’s drug candidates include an oral anti-influenza drug candidate, an injectable anti-

influenza drug for hospitalized patients with severe influenza, and an anti-HIV drug. 

3. Plaintiff alleges that defendants issued materially false and misleading statements 

and/or failed to disclose material adverse facts throughout the Class Period, including: (a) 

improper self-dealing by certain of the Company’s officers and/or directors, and (b) that the price 

of the Company’s securities was artificially inflated during the Class Period by defendants 

materially false and misleading statements and failure to disclose material information 

concerning NanoViricides’ business, operations and financial performance and prospects. 

4. On February 11, 2014, the investor website Seekingalpha.com published an article 

alleging that NanoViricides is a “House of Cards with -80% downside,” and “a vehicle designed 

specifically to enrich insiders,” and that the complaint filed in a shareholder derivative action –

Yidam, Ltd. v. Anil Diwan, et al., Case No. 1:13-cv-01777-RM-BNB, filed July 5, 2013, in the 

United States District Court for the District of Colorado (the “Brian Brammel Complaint”) – is a 

“must-read document,” which outlines numerous examples of certain NanoViricides managers 

“abusing shareholders and looting the company.” 

5. Following this news, the price of NanoViricides stock dropped 24% from the 

previous day’s closing price, or $1.06 per share, to a closing price of $3.36 per share on February 

11, 2014, on unusually heavy volume of more than 7.9 million shares traded, thereby damaging 

investors.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 
 

6. Jurisdiction is conferred by §27 of the Exchange Act. The claims asserted herein 

arise under §§10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. This 
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Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action under 28 U.S.C. §1331 and §27 of the 

Exchange Act.  

7. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to §27 of the Exchange Act and 28 

U.S.C. §1391(b) as the Company’s principal executive offices are situated in this District.  

8. In connection with the acts alleged in this complaint, defendants, directly or 

indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including, but not 

limited to, the mails, interstate telephone communications and the facilities of the national 

securities markets.  

PARTIES 

9. PLAINTIFF, as set forth in the accompanying certification, incorporated by 

reference herein, purchased NanoViricides securities during the Class Period, and suffered 

damages as a result of the federal securities law violations and false and/or misleading statements 

and/or material omissions alleged herein.  

10. Defendant NanoViricides is a Nevada corporation with its principal executive 

offices situated at 135 Wood Street, Suite 205, West Haven, Connecticut. NanoViricides 

common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange MKT under the symbol “NNVC.”  

11. Defendant Eugene Seymour (“Seymour”) was, at all relevant times, the 

Company’s Chief Executive Officer and a Director. 

12. Defendant Anil Diwan (“Diwan”) was, at all relevant times, President and 

Chairman of the Board of NanoViricides. 

13. Defendants Seymour and Diwan are sometimes referred to herein as the 

“Individual Defendants.” The Individual Defendants, because of their positions with the 

Company, possessed the power and authority to control the contents of NanoViricides’ reports to 
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the SEC, press releases and presentations to securities analysts, money and portfolio managers 

and institutional investors, i.e., the market. The Individual Defendants were provided with copies 

of the Company=s reports and press releases alleged herein to be misleading prior to, or shortly 

after, their issuance and had the ability and opportunity to prevent their issuance or cause them to 

be corrected. Because of their positions and access to material non-public information available 

to them, the Individual Defendants knew that the adverse facts specified herein had not been 

disclosed to, and were being concealed from, the public, and that the positive representations 

which were being made were then materially false and/or misleading. 

 
SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

 
Background  
 

14. NanoViricides is a nano-biopharmaceutical company, engaged in the discovery, 

development and commercialization of therapeutics for the treatment of viral infections. The 

Company’s drug candidates include an oral anti-influenza drug candidate, an injectable anti-

influenza drug for hospitalized patients with severe influenza, and an anti-HIV drug. The 

Company also has research programs against Rabies virus, Ebola and Marburg viruses, Middle 

East Respiratory Syndrome coronavirus and others. The Company does not have any 

commercialized products.  

Defendants’ False And Misleading Statements During The Class Period 
 

15. On February 19th, 2013, the Company issued a press release titled 

“NanoViricides, Inc. Files Quarterly Report - Reports a Strong Cash Position Sufficient for 

Phase I Clinical Trials of its First Drug Candidate.” The press release stated, in relevant part: 

 
WEST HAVEN, CONNECTICUT -- February 19th, 2013 -- NanoViricides, Inc. 
(OTC BB: NNVC) (the “Company”) has filed its quarterly report with the 
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Securities and Exchange Commission on Thursday, February 14th, in a timely 
fashion. The submission can be downloaded from the SEC website at 
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1379006/000114420413009225/0001144
204-13-009225-index.htm. 
 
The Company reported that it had approximately $13.880M in cash and cash 
equivalents, and approximately $801,000 in prepaid expenses as of December 31, 
2012, the end of the reporting quarter. The shareholder equity stood at 
approximately $15.612M. In comparison, the Company had approximately 
$12.930M in cash and cash equivalents, approximately $438,000 in prepaid 
expenses, and approximately $12.796M in shareholder equity as of September 30, 
2012. The Company spent approximately $710,000 in Research and Development 
expenses (R&D) and approximately $533,400 in General and Administrative 
expenses (G&A) in the reported quarter. The Company’s rate of expenditure was 
in line with the Company’s budgeted targets. In addition, the Company has raised 
$6M from three family offices and a charitable foundation, subsequent to the 
reported period, as announced previously. The Company estimates that it has 
approximately $20M in hand including prepaid expenses after this raise. 
 
The Company estimates that it currently has sufficient cash in hand to support 
operations for at least two years from reported period at the current rate of cash 
expenditure. NanoViricides, Inc. also estimates that it has sufficient cash in hand 
to support Phase I human clinical trials of its first drug candidate, a broad-
spectrum anti-influenza drug in its FluCide™ program. The Company has neither 
any long term debt, nor any short term debt, other than working capital accounts 
payables. The Company’s estimates are based on its current rate of expenditure 
and also on certain approximate estimates for clinical development of its drug 
candidate as gleaned from discussions with various contract research 
organizations. 
 
The Company reports that all of its drug development programs are progressing 
satisfactorily. 
 
In particular, the Company is advancing its oral broad-spectrum anti-influenza 
drug candidate, NV-INF-2, towards IND-enabling studies. This may be the first 
ever nanomedicine drug of any kind that is active when administered orally. This 
drug is being developed for out-patient influenza cases, and may also be useful for 
influenza prophylaxis, as in use for the protection of health care workers. 
 
In addition, the Company continues to develop its injectable anti-influenza drug, 
NV-INF-1, towards IND-enabling studies. This drug candidate has much greater 
activity than the oral drug, and is intended for use in hospitalized patients with 
influenza or potentially influenza-like illness. The Company believes it will be 
useable in immuno-compromised populations, and may receive an orphan drug 
classification for this indication. Both of these drugs in the anti-influenza 
FluCide™ program have demonstrated very high effectiveness in a lethal 
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influenza animal model, routinely showing substantial superiority to oseltamivir 
(Tamiflu®), the current standard of care. The Company believes that these drugs 
will be useable against most if not all types of influenza viruses, including 
seasonal (such as H1N1, H3N2), epidemic (such as H1N1/2009 “swine flu”, 
H3N2/2012), novel strains, and bird flu (such as H5N1, various clades). In 
addition, both of these drugs have shown extremely good safety profile in limited 
animal studies. This strong safety profile has necessitated a substantial scale-up in 
the Company’s current synthesis capabilities prior to commissioning a formal 
GLP safety and toxicology (“Tox Package”) study. The Company is in the 
process of developing the necessary scale-up synthesis laboratory. In addition, the 
Company is also working on acquiring cGMP manufacturing capability for these 
and other nanoviricides drug candidates. The Company previously held a pre-IND 
meeting with the US FDA for its anti-influenza drug candidate, NV-INF-1, in the 
FluCide program on March 29, 2012. The Company believes it has received 
valuable input from the US FDA, applicable to the development of its anti-
influenza drug candidates. 
 
With the current strong cash position, the Company believes that it has sufficient 
funds available to perform the necessary IND enabling studies for its anti-
influenza drug programs and to file an Investigational New Drug Application 
(“IND”) with the US FDA. 
 
Including the Flucide program, the Company currently has six commercially 
important drug candidates in its pipeline. These include the aforementioned drugs 
against all Influenzas, HIVCide™, HerpiCide™, DengiCide™, and a broad-
spectrum nanoviricide eye drop formulation against viral infections of the eye. 
These programs are based on the Company’s platform technology that enables 
specifically targeting a particular type of virus with a novel mechanism of action. 
In addition, the Company continues its other research and development programs. 
These include (a) broad-spectrum nanoviricides against a number of Neglected 
Tropical Diseases, and (b) its novel ADIF™ (“Accurate Drug In Field”™) 
technologies which promise a way to attack novel viruses, whether man-made 
(bioterrorism) or natural (such as SARS), before they cause a pandemic. 
 
 
16. On May 21, 2013, the Company issued a press release titled “NanoViricides, Inc. 

Brings in Experienced Executive as Interim CFO,” announcing that, among other things, the 

Company filed its quarterly report with the SEC for the period ended March 31, 2013. The press 

release stated, in relevant part: 

WEST HAVEN, CONNECTICUT -- May 21, 2013 -- NanoViricides, Inc. (OTC 
BB: NNVC) (the “Company”) has filed its quarterly report with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on Wednesday, May 15th, in a timely fashion. The 
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submission can be downloaded from the SEC website at 
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1379006/000114420413029691/v345261
_10q.htm . 
 
An amendment to the submission was filed on Monday May 20th, 2013, to 
correct certain numerical errors. The amended quarterly report can be downloaded 
from the SEC website at 
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1379006/000114420413030526/v345375
_10qa.htm 
 
The Company reported that it had approximately $16.999M in current assets 
(cash, cash equivalents, collateral advance, and prepaid expenses) as of March 31, 
2013, the end of the reporting quarter. The shareholder equity stood at 
approximately $10.122M. In comparison, the Company had approximately 
$14.681M in current assets and approximately $15.612M in shareholder equity as 
of December 31, 2012, the previous reporting quarter. The Company spent 
approximately $1.359M in Research and Development expenses (R&D) and 
approximately $831,400 in General and Administrative expenses (G&A), 
including stock-based expenses, in the reported quarter. The Company’s rate of 
expenditure was in line with the Company’s budgeted targets. The Company 
reported that it had raised $6M from three family offices and a charitable 
foundation in February, as announced previously. No third parties were retained 
and no commissions were paid to complete this financing. Subsequently, the 
Company announced full retirement of its Series C convertible preferred stock 
held by Seaside 88, LP, with a cash payment of approximately $2.01M. 
 
The Company estimates that it currently has sufficient cash in hand to support 
operations for at least two years from reported period at the current rate of cash 
expenditure. NanoViricides, Inc. also estimates that it has sufficient cash in hand 
to support initial human clinical trials of its first drug candidate, a broad-spectrum 
anti-influenza drug in its FluCide™ program. The Company ‘s recently issued 
Series B Convertible Debentures represents the Company’s only long term debt. 
Short term debt consists of accounts payable and accrued expenses of 
approximately $1 M, . The Company’s estimates are based on its current rate of 
expenditure and also on certain approximate estimates for clinical development of 
its drug candidate as gleaned from discussions with various contract research 
organizations. 
 
The Company reports that all of its drug development programs are progressing 
satisfactorily. 
 
In particular, the Company is advancing its oral broad-spectrum anti-influenza 
drug candidate, NV-INF-2, towards IND-enabling studies. This may be the first 
ever nanomedicine drug of any kind that is active when administered orally. This 
drug is being developed for out-patient influenza cases, and may also be useful for 
influenza prophylaxis, as in use for the protection of health care workers. 
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In addition, the Company continues to develop its injectable anti-influenza drug, 
NV-INF-1, towards IND-enabling studies. This drug candidate has much greater 
activity than the oral drug, and is intended for use in hospitalized patients with 
influenza or potentially influenza-like illness. The Company believes it will be 
useable in immuno-compromised populations, and may receive an orphan drug 
classification for this indication. Both of these drugs in the anti-influenza 
FluCide™ program have demonstrated very high effectiveness in a lethal 
influenza animal model, routinely showing substantial superiority to oseltamivir 
(Tamiflu®), the current standard of care. The Company believes that these drugs 
will be useable against most if not all types of influenza viruses, including 
seasonal (such as H1N1, H3N2), epidemic (such as H1N1/2009 “swine flu”, 
H3N2/2012), novel strains such as H7N9 that is currently circulating in China, 
and bird flu (such as H5N1, various clades). In addition, both of these drugs have 
shown extremely good safety profile in all of the animal studies that have been 
performed to date. This strong safety profile has necessitated a substantial scale-
up in the Company’s current synthesis capabilities prior to commissioning a 
formal GLP safety and toxicology (“Tox Package”) study. The Company is in the 
process of developing the necessary scale-up synthesis laboratory. 
 
In addition, the Company is also working on acquiring cGMP manufacturing 
capability for these and other nanoviricides drug candidates. 
 
The Company reported in April 2013 that the engineering design of its cGMP 
manufacturing plus laboratory facility is substantially complete and work has 
begun. 
 
The Company previously held a pre-IND meeting with the US FDA for its anti-
influenza drug candidate, NV-INF-1, in the FluCide program on March 29, 2012. 
The Company believes it has received valuable input from the US FDA, 
applicable to the development of its anti-influenza drug candidates. 
 
With the current strong cash position, the Company believes that it has sufficient 
funds available to perform the necessary IND enabling studies for its anti-
influenza drug programs, to file an Investigational New Drug Application 
(“IND”) with the US FDA, and to conduct initial human clinical trials of its first 
anti-influenza drug. The Company’s estimates are based on information it has 
obtained from reliable sources, confidential cost estimates from consultants and 
service providers, and other sources. There is no guarantee that this information is 
accurate. The Company will continue to refine its estimates as the development 
programs progress further. 
 
Including the Flucide program, the Company currently has six commercially 
important drug candidates in its pipeline. These include the aforementioned drugs 
against all Influenzas, HIVCide™, HerpiCide™, DengiCide™, and a broad-
spectrum nanoviricide eye drop formulation against viral infections of the eye. 
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These programs are based on the Company’s platform technology that enables 
specifically targeting a particular type of virus with a novel mechanism of action. 
In addition, the Company continues its other research and development programs. 
These include (a) broad-spectrum nanoviricides against a number of Neglected 
Tropical Diseases, and (b) its novel ADIF™ (“Accurate Drug In Field”™) 
technologies which promise a way to attack novel viruses, whether man-made 
(bioterrorism) or natural (such as SARS), before they cause a pandemic. 

 
 

17. On October 1, 2013, the Company issued a press release titled “NanoViricides 

Files Annual Report - Reports Having Sufficient Funds to Advance A Drug Candidate into 

Clinical Trials.” The press release stated, in relevant part: 

WEST HAVEN, CONNECTICUT -- Tuesday, October 1st, 2013 -- 
NanoViricides, Inc. (NYSE MKT: NNVC) (the “Company”), reports that it has 
filed its financial year end annual report (Form 10-K) with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) on Monday, September 30, 2013. The report can be 
accessed at the SEC website 
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1379006/000114420413053084/0001144
204-13-053084-index.htm. 
 
The Company had approximately $13.9M cash in hand and an additional 
approximately $1.5M in prepaid expenses and security deposits at the end of the 
reported period, June 30, 2013, as compared to a cash and cash equivalents 
balance of approximately $14.3 Million one year ago. Research and development 
expenses for this year were approximately $4.30M compared to $4.27M for the 
year ended June 30, 2012. General and administrative expenses increased to 
$3.21M for the year ended June 30, 2013, from $1.82M for the previous year. 
 
Subsequent to the reporting period, on September 10, 2013, the Company 
performed a uniform reverse split of its securities on a 3.5 to 1 basis, reducing its 
authorized common stock from 300,000,000 of our old shares to 85,714,286 
shares of the new common stock, under the new CUSIP number 630087203. The 
Company undertook this reverse split in order to meet the stock price criteria for 
listing on certain national exchanges. 
 
On September 10, 2013, the Company raised approximately $10.3M in a 
registered direct offering of our post-split securities to accredited equity investors 
and other institutions. The Company reported that one of its directors, Dr. Milton 
Boniuk, invested $3M in this raise. Dr. Boniuk made these investments both 
personally as well as from his charitable foundation and other interests. 
 
The Company estimates that its total cash and cash equivalent holdings after this 
raise are now sufficient for taking a drug candidate through initial human clinical 
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trials. These estimates are based on several assumptions including the cost 
estimates provided by certain clinical research organizations, and assumptions for 
the time various activities are estimated to take. The concept of the PRV was 
initially developed by three professors, David Ridley, Jeff Moe and Henry 
Grabowski at the Fuqua School of Business of the Duke University. Dr. Ridley 
invited Dr. Seymour to speak on the importance of economic incentives to help 
innovative pharmaceutical companies attach higher priorities to drug development 
programs against “orphan” diseases. 
 
The Company now has six commercially important drug development programs 
in its pipeline, addressing a market size estimated to be in the range of $40 Billion 
to $70 Billion by various estimates. 
 
In the past year, the Company has focused on three important objectives: 
1. Advanced Pre-clinical development of our Injectable FluCide towards IND 
filing; 
2. Enabling a highly customizable pilot-scale cGMP manufacturing capability for 
the production of clinical study quantities of any of its nanoviricides® drug 
candidates and any of the various formulations of these candidates; 
3. Improving Corporate Governance towards up-listing the Company on a 
national exchange. 
 
The Company reported that it has been successful in advancing each of these 
objectives. On September 25, 2013, the Company stock was listed and began 
trading on the NYSE MKT national exchange. 
 
The Company has signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Inno-
Haven, LLC, for the total renovation of the 1 Controls Drive, Shelton, CT, facility 
purchased by Inno-Haven into a pilot scale cGMP facility and associated R&D 
laboratory space. Inno-Haven is controlled by Anil R. Diwan, PhD, our founder. 
Inno-Haven has raised substantial amount of capital for this project through 
various sources, and it is expected that they will be able to raise all of the 
necessary funding for this project, with minimal capital expenses to be borne by 
NanoViricides, Inc. The Company is expected to lease the facility. The terms of 
the lease are expected to be negotiated after the total cost of the facility can be 
determined to a substantial extent. No lease has been signed yet. The project is 
already in construction phase, and is anticipated to be completed in the first 
calendar quarter of 2014, if no additional delays such as long lead times or back 
orders on equipment etc. are encountered. 
 
We are currently focusing on advancing our Injectable FluCide™ drug, for the 
treatment of severely ill, hospitalized, influenza patients, towards an IND filing. 
We have also developed an Oral FluCide drug that continues to advance 
following the injectable version. Both of our FluCide drug candidates are “broad-
spectrum”, i.e. they are expected to be able to combat most, if not all, influenza 
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viruses, including bird flu, high path influenzas, epidemic influenzas, seasonal 
influenzas, and potentially any novel influenza A strains. 
 
The Company is scaling up the production of FluCide from gram scale to several 
hundred grams scale. The Company believes that the scale up and reproducibility 
of product batches can be effectively controlled. 
 
Recently, the Company’s DengueCide™ drug candidate has received an Orphan 
Drug designation from the US FDA. This designation provides significant 
economic benefits, including a “Priority Review Voucher” that can be employed 
to accelerate another drug development program of the Company or a 
collaborator. DengueCide is designed to be active against all four major serotypes 
of dengue viruses. 
 
HIVCide™ is a drug in development against HIV/AIDS that shows the promise 
of becoming a “Functional Cure” against HIV/AIDS, based on available animal 
studies data in the standard humanized mouse model of HIV-1 infection in human 
T cells. This model is known to be predictive of successful anti-HIV drug 
development. Recently, the Company reported that it has further improved its 
HIVCide drug candidate(s) in an SAR (“structure-activity-relationship”) program. 
 
The Company is also developing a single topical solution nanoviricide to attack 
most viral infections of the eye including Epidemic Kerato-Conjunctivitis (EKC) 
and Herpes Keratitis. 
 
In addition, the Company has successfully developed initial drug candidates 
against Oral “Cold Sores” and Genital Herpes. 
 
The Company has taken important steps towards improving our corporate 
governance this year. In May, 2013, we appointed Ms. Meeta R. Vyas, SB, MBA, 
a seasoned executive with public company experience, as our interim Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO). Previously, in June 2012, we had appointed Mr. Stanley 
Glick, CPA, as an independent Director of the Company and the Chairman of its 
Audit Committee. In June, 2013, we appointed two additional independent 
members to our Board of Directors, making our Board independent of our 
executives. Milton Boniuk, MD, the Caroline F. Elles Chair Professor of 
Ophthalmology in the Alkek Eye Center at the Baylor College of Medicine, 
joined our Board on May 28, 2013, as an independent member of the Company’s 
Board of Directors. Mukund S. Kulkarni, Professor of Finance and Chancellor of 
Penn State University, Harrisburg, joined our Board on June 24, 2013, as an 
independent member of the Company’s Board of Directors. 
 
The Company believes that it has a robust, strong, and wide drug pipeline that is 
advancing satisfactorily towards clinical trials. 
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“We have significantly improved our Corporate Governance and have achieved 
up-listing to NYSE-MKT, as we build a strong Company,” said Anil R. Diwan, 
PhD, President and Chairman of the Company, adding, “We have also made 
significant progress in enabling cGMP manufacture of our drug candidates, and 
have continued strong progress in advancing our six major drug candidates. We 
are steadily progressing towards the goal of approval of our drug candidates.” 
 
“We currently enjoy the best financial position in the history of our Company,” 
said Eugene Seymour, MD, MPH, adding, “We are now confident that we will be 
able to take our first drug, FluCide, into human clinical trials on our own.” 
 
On September 30, 2013, the Company has filed its Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the period ended June 30, 2013 on September 30, 2013. However, the 
Registrant was unable to complete the financial statements in interactive data 
format in eXtensible Business Reporting Language (“XBRL”) without 
unreasonable effort or expense. We will amend our Form 10-K to provide 
financial statements in XBRL format within the time prescribed for the filing.  
 

 
18. On November 18, 2013, the Company issued a press release titled 

“NanoViricides, Inc. Files Quarterly Report - Reports a Strong Cash Position Sufficient for 

Clinical Trials of its First Drug Candidate.” The press release stated, in relevant part:  

WEST HAVEN, CONNECTICUT -- Monday, November 18th, 2013 -- 
NanoViricides, Inc. (NYSE MKT: NNVC) (the “Company”), has filed its 
quarterly report with the Securities and Exchange Commission on Thursday, 
November 15th, in a timely fashion. The submission can be downloaded from the 
SEC website at 
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1379006/000114420413061915/v360486
_10q.htm. 
 
The Company reported that it had approximately $22.0M in current assets (cash, 
cash equivalents, collateral advance, and prepaid expenses) as of September 30, 
2013, the end of the reporting quarter. The shareholder equity stood at 
approximately $11.75M. In comparison, the Company had approximately $15.5M 
in current assets plus collateral advances, and approximately $8M in shareholder 
equity as of June 30, 2013, the end of its financial year. 
 
The Company spent approximately $1.175M in Research and Development 
expenses (R&D) and approximately $714,561 in General and Administrative 
expenses (G&A), including stock-based expenses, in the reported quarter. The 
current rate of expenditure was in line with the Company’s budgeted targets. 
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The Company reported that it had raised approximately $10.33M in a registered 
direct offering on September 10, 2013, immediately following a reverse split of its 
common stock at the rate of 1 new share for 3.5 old shares effected the same day. 
The Company received approximately $9.690 Million in proceeds after deducting 
approximately $640K for broker commissions and attorney fees. Midtown Capital 
Partners LLC and Chardan Capital Markets LLC jointly served as placement 
agents for this raise. 
 
The Company’s long term and trusted supporters (family funds) including our 
Director, Professor Milton Boniuk, MD, have invested a majority of the total 
funds in this raise. The Company had undertaken the reverse split in order to 
enable it to be listed on a national stock exchange. 
 
On September 25, 2013, the Company’s (new) common stock began trading on 
NYSE MKT exchange under the symbol “NNVC”. This is a significant milestone 
for the Company, resulting as a culmination of a year long effort spearheaded by 
its founder and chairman, Dr. Anil R. Diwan. 
 
The Company estimates that it currently has sufficient cash in hand to support 
operations for at least two years from reported period at the current rate of cash 
expenditure. NanoViricides, Inc. also estimates that it has sufficient cash in hand 
to support initial human clinical trials of its first drug candidate, a broad-spectrum 
anti-influenza drug in its FluCide™ program. The Company’s estimates are based 
on its current rate of expenditure and also on certain approximate estimates for 
clinical development of its drug candidate as gleaned from discussions with 
various contract research organizations. 
 
The Company reports that all of its drug development programs are progressing 
satisfactorily. 
 
Of these, our Injectable FluCide™ is the most advanced. This drug candidate has 
shown extremely high effectiveness in a lethal influenza infection mouse model 
against two different types of influenza A virus, namely H1N1 and H3N2. The 
Company believes that this drug should be effective against most if not all 
influenza A subtypes, and strains, including the novel H7N9 strain. The Company 
held a pre-IND Meeting with the US FDA for its clinical drug candidate NV-INF-
1 (i.e. Injectable FluCide) in the FluCide program in March 2012. The Company 
obtained valuable advice and is developing this candidate towards an 
investigational drug application (“IND”) to the US FDA as well as for similar 
applications to other international regulatory agencies. The Company recently 
performed a short preliminary non-GLP study designed to guide the planned GLP 
Safety and Toxicology studies (“Tox Package”) that are required for an IND 
filing. 
 
On October 7, 2013, the Company announced that in this small animal non-GLP 
safety/toxicology study of NV-INF-1 drug candidate, even at maximum feasible 
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dosage, the drug was well tolerated and that no adverse events were found at 
study completion. The Company is awaiting a full report on the chemistry and 
histology data from this study. These results are consistent with our findings 
during efficacy studies of this drug candidate in lethally infected mouse models. 
 
The Company is currently performing scale up studies on its FluCide drug 
candidate in its existing facilities. Upon scale-up, we will be able to produce the 
quantities of materials we need for the GLP Safety/Toxicology study of the 
injectable FluCide drug. We intend to begin the GLP Safety/Toxicology study as 
soon as feasible. 
 
The Company has previously announced that its anti-dengue drug candidate in the 
DengueCide™ program achieved an unprecedented 50% survival rate in a special 
mouse model that mimics the most severe dengue disease in humans. This study 
was performed by Professor Eva Harris at the University of California, Berkeley. 
 
On August 12, 2013, the Company announced that this anti-dengue drug 
candidate has been awarded an orphan drug designation by the US FDA. 
Subsequent to this quarterly report, on November 11, 2013, we announced that 
this anti-dengue drug candidate was also awarded an orphan drug designation by 
the European Medicines Agency (EMA). These orphan drug designations provide 
the Company with several financial and other benefits that have now enabled the 
Company to give a high priority to the development of this drug. 
 
In addition, the Company is developing a flexible, multi-product, pilot 
manufacturing facility capable of manufacturing any of its drug candidates in c-
GMP compliant manner. This facility will be able to provide the cGMP clinical 
drug substances for its future human clinical studies. (“c-GMP”= current Good 
Manufacturing Practices, a set of guidelines developed by the US FDA that the 
manufacture of a drug must adhere to for human clinical trials and future sales. 
Internationally, there are similar guidelines promoted by local regulatory 
agencies, and ICH harmonization guidelines promoted by the WHO). A group of 
private financiers that includes our founder Dr. Anil Diwan has acquired an 
18,000 sq.ft. building on 4 acres with possibilities of expansion, in Shelton, CT, 
via Inno-Haven, LLC, a company formed specifically for that purpose. This 
building is now undergoing a total renovation to facilitate setting up a modern 
cGMP drug substance manufacturing facility with injectable drugs capability, as 
well as supporting analytical and chemistry laboratory facilities. The Company 
reported that the renovation of the facilities at 1 Controls Drive, Shelton, CT is 
now in Construction phase, and is expected to be completed in the first calendar 
quarter of 2014. 
 
The Company previously held a pre-IND meeting with the US FDA for its anti-
influenza drug candidate, NV-INF-1, in the FluCide program on March 29, 2012. 
The Company believes it has received valuable input from the US FDA, 
applicable to the development of its anti-influenza drug candidates. 



 

 15 

 
With the current strong cash position, the Company believes that it has sufficient 
funds available to perform the necessary IND enabling studies for its anti-
influenza drug programs, to file an Investigational New Drug Application 
(“IND”) with the US FDA, and to conduct initial human clinical trials of its first 
anti-influenza drug. The Company’s estimates are based on information it has 
obtained from reliable sources, confidential cost estimates from consultants and 
service providers, and other sources. There is no guarantee that this information is 
accurate. The Company will continue to refine its estimates as the development 
programs progress further.  
 
Including the Flucide program, the Company currently has six commercially 
important drug candidates in its pipeline. These include the Injectable and Oral 
drugs against all Influenzas, HIVCide™, HerpiCide™, DengiCide™, and a 
broad-spectrum nanoviricide eye drop formulation against viral infections of the 
eye. These programs are based on the Company’s platform technology that 
enables specifically targeting a particular type of virus with a novel mechanism of 
action. In addition, the Company continues its other research and development 
programs. These include (a) broad-spectrum nanoviricides against a number of 
Neglected Tropical Diseases, and (b) its novel ADIF™ (“Accurate Drug In 
Field”™) technologies which promise a way to attack novel viruses, whether 
man-made (bioterrorism) or natural (such as SARS), before they cause a 
pandemic.  
 
On November 15, 2013, the Company has filed its Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the period ended September 30, 2013. However, the Registrant was unable 
to complete the financial statements in interactive data format in eXtensible 
Business Reporting Language (“XBRL”) without unreasonable effort or expense. 
We will amend our Form 10-Q to provide financial statements in XBRL format 
within the time prescribed for the filing. 
  

19. Defendants’ statements described in ¶¶15-18, above, were materially false and/or 

misleading when made because defendants failed to disclose (i) improper self-dealing by certain 

of the Company’s officers and/or directors, and (ii) that the price of the Company’s securities 

was artificially inflated by defendants materially false and misleading statements and failure to 

disclose material information concerning NanoViricides’ business, operations and financial 

performance and prospects. As a result, during the Class Period, the Company’s statements 
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concerning NanoViricides’ business, operations and financial condition and prospects were 

materially false and misleading at all relevant times.  

Disclosures At The End Of The Class Period 
 

20. On February 11, 2014, the investing website SeekingAlpha.com published an 

article, titled “NanoViricides: House Of Cards With -80% Downside, ‘Strong Sell’ 

Recommendation,” which stated the following, in relevant part:  

Aside from sounding like the name of another terrible Keanu Reeves movie, 
NanoViricides (NNVC) is the worst US reverse merger we have ever seen. 
NNVC is so obviously a vehicle designed specifically to enrich insiders we find it 
offensively similar to the China RTO frauds. This is the first report in a series we 
will release outlining the most egregious shareholder violations we are aware of in 
any NYSE company. With multiple questionable stock promoters NNVC has 
pumped the stock +330% while heavily diluting shareholders and stealing NNVC 
out from under public investors as insiders siphoned off millions of dollars. We 
also believe one of NNVC’s top scientists has been dishonest which calls into 
question NNVC’s “technology,” which we believe is clearly not viable. NNVC’s 
fair value is <$1 versus current trading price of $4.60 and is currently breaking 
down from the large unrestricted stock selling volume created by the (yet another) 
recent RDO equity sale. Our medium-term price target is $0.00 as we believe 
NNVC will implode once it is unable to raise cash, like the CEO, co-founder and 
ex-CFO’s previous defunct company, SSUR. 
 
Whistleblower Document: “Smoking Gun” 
 
NNVC shareholders seem unaware of [the “Brian Brammel Complaint,” filed in 
Yidam, Ltd. v. Anil Diwan, et al., Case No. 1:13-cv-01777-RM-BNB (U.S.D.C. 
D.Colo)] this incriminating must-read document, written by a company insider 
and supporter, which outlines countless examples and allegations of NNVC 
managers Seymour and Diwan abusing shareholders and looting the company. 
Once NNVC insiders face subpoena power under threat of perjury, we don’t see 
how anything will be left for NNVC shareholders. As you read this please keep in 
mind: If this is how NNVC treats a longtime supporter and associate how do you 
think it will treat YOU, a faceless public shareholder? 
 
Have NNVC Management Effectively Stolen the Company Out from Under 
Shareholders? 
 
It seems to us Anil Diwan and Eugene Seymour have stolen all potential value in 
NNVC from public US shareholders. Let us explain and introduce the two main 
players. 
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NNVC’s CEO Eugene Seymour on RedChip (RedChip is famous for promoting 
multiple China frauds) 
 
NNVC’s president, cofounder and chairman Anil Diwan, 
 
(also cofounder and majority owner of Theracour Pharma) 
 
First, NNVC does not own any of the intellectual property or patents under 
development by NNVC. 100% of NNVC’s research, development and 
“technology” relies on licenses on the IP from Theracour. As a result, NNVC is 
literally nothing without the “Theracour Pharma, Inc” relationship. Unfortunately 
for NNVC, Theracour is also majority owned and controlled by NNVC’s 
President, Chairman and co-founder Anil Diwan. If the Theracour relationship 
were terminated or changed for the worse, there would literally be zero 
technology or IP left with NNVC. 
 
Brammel’s suit revealed the following: In 2007 and 2009 Brian Brammel 
(longtime associate and supporter of Eugene Seymour) raised money from his 
network so NNVC could allegedly begin early stage work on Dengue Fever, 
Ebola and Keratoconjunctivitis. What Brian and his investors was not told was 
NNVC had never signed any licensing agreements with Theracour for these 
diseases. Brian Brammel only learned this absurdity after NNVC had spent the 
money and came back to him for more money to now be used to pay Theracour 
for the licensing on the diseases Brian had already funded development on! 
Diwan and Eugene seem to have deliberately used NNVC’s cash to develop drugs 
for the benefit of Diwan’s Theracour to which NNVC had no rights. 
 
NNVC then had to pay Theracour to secure these licenses. However, in a 
worrisome conflict of interest, Anil Diwan seems to have controlled both sides of 
this transactions for both NNVC and Theracour. As a result, Diwan and Seymour 
decided to create and pay Theracour (and themselves) 7,000,000 (at the time) 
brand new specially crafted “Series A Preferred Stock” (worth ~$36m today). No 
shareholder vote took place, nor were any disclosures on the details of this 
transaction, fairness opinions or independent consultant analysis ever provided to 
shareholders that we could find. 
 
Devil in The Details: “stolen control of the company and now have absolute 
dictatorial power” 
 
The trick is these “Series A Preferred Stock” have very unusual terms only 
offered to insiders which grant them “absolute dictatorial power” over NNVC, 
while Diwan already controls Theracour. Originally, each A share converted into 
4 shares of NNVC stock and carried 4 votes per share but on 6/15/2012 (after the 
insider lawsuit first became filed) mysteriously the Preferred shares were 
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amended to each carry an astonishing 9 votes each! This may not seem important 
until you do the math on what this means. 
 
In effect, this means NNVC insiders granted Theracour an astonishing 63,000,000 
votes total (at the time). So all in Eugene Seymour and Anil Diwan (the only two 
board members at the time) in 2012 increased their own voting control from 
~30% to 54% and effectively stole control of NNVC from shareholders. 
 
    “We want to avoid having to go to shareholders every time we need 
something” -CEO Eugene Seymour discussing Brammel proxy by email 
 
After this they required no shareholder meetings or approval of anything they do. 
If they raised their cash compensation to $50m per year or sold the Theracour 
licenses back to themselves for $1, there is essentially nothing shareholders could 
do to stop them. While all the dilution has impacted this math slightly, with (what 
we believe is) Leo Ehrlich’s likely share ownership while Diwan, Seymour and 
insiders continue receiving egregious A shares, NNVC shareholders can look 
forward to much more “dictatorial control” of NNVC by Diwan and Seymour. If 
Leo Ehrlich did not own shares why is NNVC seemingly keeping shareholders 
from inspecting the shareholder registry and trading records?? 
 
    “In real terms the officers and directors have been slowly and methodically 
stealing voting control of the company for their own self-dealing pursuits.” -Brian 
Brammel Complaint Direct Quote 
 
So now, we believe if you own NNVC shares you quite literally own nothing. 
You own a subordinated piece of paper without useful voting control that is held 
hostage by people who control all the value and seem to dictate the terms NNVC 
shareholders (you) pay them. With Anil and Eugene seemingly controlling the 
public cash raising machine and together controlling Theracour, which receives 
the cash and holds all the value, they have created the perfect vehicle to get rich. 
They combined a public financing vehicle that bleeds shares into the market to 
unknowing public investors while Theracour and insiders get the money. Where 
are NNVC’s original articles of incorporation and bylaws? They are referenced in 
the 10ks but we cannot find them filed with SEC as they claim anywhere. 
 
Interestingly, we also could find no evidence Anil Diwan himself was ever 
elected in any legitimate shareholder meeting…. Nor was a proper shareholder 
meeting called for first 7 years of company’s existence and no proper shareholder 
meeting called to select the current CEO either?! 
 
    “the Board has avoided calling shareholder meetings because the Board knows 
it would not be able to obtain sufficient votes to approve these transactions and 
intentionally chose to disregard the requirement of calling such meetings.” - 
Brammel Complaint Direct Quote 
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If Anil and Eugene did not intend to unfairly enrich themselves at the expense of 
NNVC shareholders why did they create this unusual structure resulting in their 
complete control of the company?? 
 
Theracour Pharma: Taking Cash from NNVC Shareholders and Giving it to Anil 
Diwan 
 
In case you were wondering the answer to the question above, read on: 
 
    “specifically Seymour (NNVC CEO) represented to Mr. Brammel that Diwan 
did not want CIMS (Brian Brammel’s Company) to be further involved with the 
company because he felt CIMS was trying to take things away from him and that 
he (Diwan) felt that CIMS’s questions about the licensing agreement were meant 
to take benefits he had received under the agreement away from him as they were 
not fair and of market value.” -Brian Brammel Complaint (emphasis added) 
 
This sounds to us like NNVC CEO Seymour personally admitting Diwan 
discussed how the Theracour agreement is not fair to NNVC shareholders and 
was not of market value. So we believe either CEO Seymour lied here to 
Brammel, or Chairman and President Diwan lied about the original Theracour 
agreement being fair and signed off by an independent consultant. Where is this 
consultant’s report and the detailed original Theracour contract? Given this is the 
(only) important part of NNVC why has this not been provided publicly to 
shareholders? 
 
Furthermore, Theracour’s terms (what we could find) seem egregious to us and 
not in line with industry standards: 
 
    “(1) that TheraCour can charge its costs (direct and indirect) plus no more than 
30% of direct costs as a development fee”1 
 
Apparently, Theracour can gouge NNVC for an arbitrarily decided “30% of direct 
cost” additional fee? As Diwan is 70% owner of Theracour, 70% of this money is 
his and how much cash he has received is not explained in the SEC filings. Even 
worse: “TheraCour may terminate the License upon a material breach by us as 
specified in the agreement.” If Diwan and Seymour control NNVC can’t they also 
control if NNVC agrees to a “material breach” and gives Theracour back the IP 
that NNVC shareholders paid to develop? 
 
Is it a coincidence that now, after seizing total voting control of NNVC, Diwan 
suddenly hires his own wife at NNVC paying her a very healthy salary and then 
Diwan goes on to also suddenly decide, apparently without independent opinion, 
NNVC now needs to pay millions of dollars in build out costs on a building 
Diwan owns? 
 



 

 20 

NNVC’s Absurd Manufacturing Facility: Giving More NNVC Shareholder 
Money to Anil Diwan 
 
In another example of NNVC Diwan and Seymour extracting shareholder cash, 
they recently determined NNVC now requires their own cGMP compliant 
manufacturing facility. They also decided the best way to do this would be for 
Anil to sell NNVC shares in the open market when SeaSide88’s conversion rate 
was being determined, unnecessarily causing even more shareholder dilution. 
Diwan then used this money to purchase a building in his own entity “Inno-
Haven, LLC” that NNVC would then pay millions of dollars to build out. 
Allegedly Diwan’s personal attorney (also an NNVC shareholder) even oversaw 
both sides of this transaction! Is there really not a single facility in the world that 
NNVC could use that was not owned by Diwan? Where was the independent 
analysis indicating this was the best choice? 
 
Even worse, as of 1/27/2014 NNVC does not have any lease or terms signed for 
the building it is paying for! NNVC is once again spending resources to develop 
assets owned by Diwan before establishing the terms or costs it will incur. We 
sense shareholders are about to get pillaged again. 
 
    “NNVC will be forced to comply or miss critical deadlines for its FDA 
submissions and abandon its substantial investment made for Diwan’s asset. 
Diwan will be in a position to dictate terms and with Seymour will have 
dictatorial vote in the Company to control the terms of the lease.” -Brian Brammel 
Complaint Direct Quote 
 
Anil Hires His Wife as CFO While Auditor and Internal Financial Controls are 
Failing 
 
NNVC uses a tiny “no name” auditor repeatedly cited for numerous deficiencies 
including “failure to perform sufficient audit procedures to test cash”, which 
seems like basic audit work to us. If NNVC’s auditor is not even verifying cash 
then what is it verifying? 
 
We estimate, in the first 24 quarters NNVC was in existence NNVC had to file 
“notification of inability to timely file” it’s SEC filings more than 19 times. Why 
a company with zero revenue outsourcing virtually all its operations seems unable 
to get their accounting and SEC filings in on time is baffling. 
 
Shareholders need not worry, however! Diwan recently hired his own wife, 
“Meeta Vyas,” as CFO so she can supposedly look out for shareholders and 
ensure the financials are honest…. 
 
There is no excuse for a public company with more than a few million dollars to 
not be using a reputable big 4 auditor. NNVC shareholders should demand this to 
ensure their financial statements are reliable. 
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NNVC “Science” Verified by Krishna Menon: Apparently With A Record of 
“False Claims”? 
 
NNVC’s “Chief Regulatory Officer”, Krishna Menon 
 
Krishna Menon (originally a veterinarian in Jamaica) is not just Chief Regulatory 
Office but also principal owner and COO of “KARD Scientific” the lab that 
NNVC uses for their often cited animal models and studies NNVC touts as 
efficacy evidence. All researchers obviously stake their entire career on accuracy, 
validity, reliability and honesty yet Menon appears to have more discrepancies 
than any public executive we have ever seen. Truly incredible. 
 
We will not repeat this hilariously embarrassing article so read this now. 
Ironically it is authored by a journalist Menon originally contacted to get more 
blindly supportive media attention. 
 
- India New England Article on Krishna Menon: “Researchers many claims don’t 
check out.” 
 
“routine fact-checking by INDIA New England soon revealed that the story of 
Krishna Menon contained many false claims and exaggerations” - India New 
England Article 
 
We noticed this story was no longer on India New England’s website and some 
claim it was taken down because it was false. We called India New England and 
here is what we were told about the article’s accuracy: “All entirely true, no 
question. The only reason we took it down is the editor is no longer with us and 
this story caused quite a stir, and we grew tired of all the phone calls when the 
editor who wrote it doesn’t even work here anymore.” 
 
Amazingly we found even more examples of conflicts in what Menon has 
publicly said. In his NNVC management biography he claims “a PhD in 
Pharmacology in 1984 from Harvard University2” and yet in the CTIX 
management biography (where he is President) he claims “a PhD in 
Pharmacology from Kerala University3”. We don’t see how Menon can be telling 
the truth in both statements. 
 
It seems Menon claimed in 2005 (when NNVC came public) to be “the holder of 
7 US patents4”, yet when we searched the US patent database we could find no 
patents of Menon’s before he made these claims? Did Menon lie about this or did 
NNVC fail to do even the most basic of background checks? 
 
Furthermore, allegedly Vivien Boniuk, MD from Feinstein’s Institute who has 
done “research” for NNVC is also a shareholder. Where is the truly independent 
analysis? Where are the big pharma companies knocking down their door with 
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huge cash payments for exclusive research contracts like BIND? Is it really 
impossible to find an independent lab to test your drugs that is not owned and run 
by a company insider? 
 
Instead NNVC shareholders are fed a steady diet of “imminent news,” promises 
and promotion that never materialize into anything meaningful like this absurd 
2009 press release about agreement with unnamed “Major Pharma” that turned 
out to be nothing. 
 
Eugene Seymour and Leo Ehrlich’s previous company “Saliva Diagnostics” 
seems to have essentially gone straight to zero and appears to have received law 
suits and multiple FDA warning letters5. This defunct company now trades with 
ticker SSUR for $0.05 per share with $198k market cap (not a typo).  
 
[Table omitted.] 
 
Given all of this, we find it hard to believe anything these people say is true. 
 
NNVC Insiders Are Getting Rich 
 
By our estimates, of the ~$36m in cash NNVC has raised (excluding the recent 
equity sales, they haven’t had time to spend that yet) insiders have collected ~$8m 
in compensation, a full 22% of every dollar they have received. This excludes any 
sums received by Theracour which would further enrich Diwan and Ehrlich 
received by Diwan or Ehrlich, and any KARD compensation Menon received. For 
example, as 70% owner of Theracour, Diwan is entitled to 70% of the ~$36m in 
“Series A Preferred Shares,” or $25m in value if converted into shares at current 
stock price, that he created and paid himself. 
 
NNVC then spent another $7m on SG&A (whatever that includes for a company 
with basically no operations). These two items alone are a full 42% of all the 
money NNVC has raised. We estimate NNVC has only performed testing on ~5k 
animals which makes the ~$20m “spent” on R&D over the past 7 years also very 
questionable. 
 
How have the millions of dollars of insider compensation and expenses been 
financed? By heavily diluting shareholders of course 
 
Continuously Using RDOs Leaves NNVC Vulnerable to “Death Spiral” 
 
“I don’t give a $h*t what the market price is, I just want to get this done 
quickly…” 
 
- NNVC CEO, Eugene Seymour from Brammel Complaint Email Exhibit 
(apparently displaying his attitude towards shareholder dilution while discussing 
terms of yet another dilutive capital raise.) 
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Most companies sell equity to institutional investors directly when they need cash. 
Not NNVC, as they rely on a special toxic type of equity financing called a 
“Registered Direct Offering” or RDO. Instead of placing shares of stock with 
long-term supporters of the company, RDOs instead are typically offered at 
enormous discounts to hedge funds who usually dump the shares into the market 
as quickly as possible. For instance, NNVC’s last RDO sold shares at $5.25 when 
shares traded as high as $6.54 the previous day, and NNVC still had to throw in 
~2.6m warrants to get the deal done. Another RDO NNVC did with “SeaSide88” 
was offered at a 26% discount to the previous day’s price, included a 10% 
dividend on unconverted shares, and had warrants. 
 
The risk in this is that NNVC becomes what we call an “inception company” 
because it only exists as long as shareholders believe it exists. They NEED you, 
the public shareholder, to keep buying the stock or these RDOs stop working as 
there is nobody to buy the discounted stock the hedge funds can sell into the 
market. Once the share price breaks down, it requires an ever increasing amount 
of shares and warrants at increasingly large discount to generate the cash required, 
until shareholders get diluted into oblivion. Many shady junior gold mining 
companies are experiencing this dynamic currently. 
 
In just the last 3 months NNVC has been diluting shareholders and selling shares 
to the market hand over fist with 2 separate deals for ~$30m in the past 5 months. 
NNVC’s previous RDO sold stock at $3.50 per share6, which is substantially 
below where the stock is now. Anil Diwan himself has also sold stock into the 
open market in the high $2s. If NNVC stock stays this elevated, we expect 
continued RDOs to provide insiders cash. 
 
Do you think Diwan and NNVC are selling huge amounts of stock because they 
think the stock is undervalued? Do you think there could be any connection 
between the company needing money and all the conferences attended and stock 
promoters? Now that they have the money what do you think happens to the stock 
next? 
 
NNVC Management Response: “Total Bull$hit” 
 
We had an investor contact NNVC on the phone and, when discussing the 
complaint, the company representative was obviously shaken and responded 
loudly “that issue is complete Bull$hit.” NNVC claims since there is not a big 
monetary demand that there is nothing to worry about but we believe that clearly 
misses the point. Some incredible allegations have been brought to light and if 
some of these are true there is very real risk NNVC faces severe punishment from 
the SEC or worse. This complaint is just the beginning and we believe once 
Seymour and Diwan, things are only going to get worse. Otherwise why was 
NNVC in such a hurry to do two RDOs so quickly? God knows how bad it really 
is inside NNVC and there could be many more lawsuits of increasing severity that 
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could result in the end for this company in our view. Furthermore, NNVC only 
survives due to a consistent stream of shareholder money and so when public 
investors decide “enough is enough” NNVC will cease to exist. Taking drugs 
through the required FDA stages can easily cost hundreds of millions of dollars 
which NNVC does not have. Unfortunately we did not receive articulate 
responses supported by facts but instead received more useless blanket 
statements. We believe NNVC needs to hold an open and public conference call 
with an opportunity for all investors to voice their questions and then NNVC 
needs to respond in detail to all allegations with responses supported in 
documented fact. Otherwise, they lose all credibility and should resign. 
 
NNVC Valuation Completely Detached From Reality 
 
Shareholders have recently been willing to pay $4.60 per share, based on our 
estimate of 56.4m shares, gives NNVC an eye popping $260m market cap for this 
“business.” Even if you assume NNVC’s licenses from Diwan’s Theracour are 
based on legitimate science AND ever shown to be valuable AND you believe 
NNVC management will let shareholders keep the upside (all of which we doubt) 
NNVC’s current valuation STILL makes zero sense: 
 
For example, BIND therapeutics, a clinical stage nanomedicine biotech platform 
company (unlike NNVC) has formal collaborations with Amgen, Pfizer and 
AstraZeneca for development and a potential game changing (BIND-014) 
compound already in phase 2 clinical trials for lung and prostate cancer. BIND 
theoretically has enormous potential payments of up to $1b in upfront and 
milestone payments with $450m potentially pre commercial7. BIND has received 
millions in upfront payments from AMGN, PFE and AstraZeneca with these huge 
pharma partners also agreeing to pay for development costs. BIND even has 
$80m in cash! 
 
NNVC has none of these positives yet NNVC trades at a much higher value!! 
Even if you choose to ignore all the scary NNVC red flags above (BIND appears 
to have none of these) NNVC at a minimum should trade at a lower valuation 
than BIND, which alone indicates more than -30% to -40% downside per share 
depending on the appropriate discount. And this assumes you believe NNVC is a 
legitimate company with good management looking out for your best interests.… 
 
NNVC trades for 21.5x tangible book value and a huge premium to other 
obviously superior biotech companies so we caution that as this story comes 
unwound there is almost no downside support. We expect to see NNVC trade -
80% or more from here, as NNVC stock has done in the past. 
 
We think NNVC should trade for less than cash given egregious dilution and cash 
burn (biotechs often trade for less than cash for these reasons) but even applying a 
generous premium to NNVC gives a per share value of less than $1 or -82% 
downside. 
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CONCLUSION 
 
The early stage biotech industry is tough for shareholders under the best 
circumstances. Well-funded companies staffed with honest and legitimate 
scientists putting shareholder value first, still fail constantly. NNVC has burned 
~$33m in cash over the past nearly 7+ years and done essentially nothing as far as 
we can tell except dilute public shareholders, make insiders rich and develop Anil 
Diwan’s technology. 
 
Even if you believe NNVC has legitimate technology with the best management 
team, who you believe will put your shareholder interests ahead of your own, 
NNVC valuation still makes zero sense. With 10k+ publicly traded companies 
and thousands of life sciences companies, we cannot imagine why anyone is 
unable to find something better to do with their money than “invest” it in this 
worthless shell where shareholders own virtually nothing and management seems 
intent on extracting all the money for themselves. NNVC is clearly held together 
with scotch tape and we recommend investors sell their shares immediately before 
this house of cards comes crashing down. 
  
21. Following this news, the price of NanoViricides stock dropped 24% from the 

previous day’s closing price, or $1.06 per share, to a closing price of $3.36 per share on February 

11, 2014, on unusually heavy volume of more than 7.9 million shares traded. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 
 

22. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a class, consisting of all those who purchased 

NanoViricides securities during the “Class Period and who were damaged thereby (the AClass@). 

Excluded from the Class are Defendants, the officers and directors of the Company, at all 

relevant times, members of their immediate families and their legal representatives, heirs, 

successors or assigns and any entity in which Defendants have or had a controlling interest. 

23. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable. Throughout the Class Period NanoViricides securities were actively traded on the 

NYSE MKT (the ANYSE@). While the exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at 
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this time and can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiff believes that there 

are hundreds or thousands of members in the proposed Class. Millions of NanoViricides shares 

were traded publicly during the Class Period on the NYSE. As of September 30, 2013, there 

were approximately 50 million shares of NanoViricides common stock were outstanding. Record 

owners and other members of the Class may be identified from records maintained by 

NanoViricides or its transfer agent and may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail, 

using the form of notice similar to that customarily used in securities class actions. 

24. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all 

members of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants= wrongful conduct in violation of 

federal law that is complained of herein. 

25. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the 

Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.  

26. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 

(a) Whether the federal securities laws were violated by Defendants’ acts as 

alleged herein;  

(b) Whether statements made by Defendants to the investing public during the 

Class Period omitted and/or misrepresented material facts about the business, operations, and 

prospects of NanoViricides; and  

(c) To what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the 

proper measure of damages. 
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27. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. Furthermore, as 

the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and 

burden of individual litigation makes it impossible for members of the Class to individually 

redress the wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as 

a class action. 

UNDISCLOSED ADVERSE FACTS 

28. The market for NanoViricides securities was open, well-developed and efficient 

at all relevant times. As a result of these materially false and/or misleading statements, and/or 

failures to disclose, NanoViricides securities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class 

Period. Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired NanoViricides 

securities relying upon the integrity of the market price of the Company’s securities and market 

information relating to NanoViricides, and have been damaged thereby. 

29. During the Class Period, Defendants materially misled the investing public, 

thereby inflating the price of NanoViricides securities, by publicly issuing false and/or 

misleading statements and/or omitting to disclose material facts necessary to make Defendants’ 

statements, as set forth herein, not false and/or misleading. Said statements and omissions were 

materially false and/or misleading in that they failed to disclose material adverse information 

and/or misrepresented the truth about NanoViricides’ business, operations and financial 

prospects as alleged herein. 

30. At all relevant times, the material misrepresentations and omissions particularized 

in this Complaint directly or proximately caused or were a substantial contributing cause of the 

damages sustained by Plaintiff and other members of the Class. As described herein, during the 
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Class Period, Defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false and/or 

misleading statements about NanoViricides’ business, operations and financial prospects. These 

material misstatements and/or omissions had the cause and effect of creating in the market an 

unrealistically positive assessment of the Company and its financial well-being and prospects, 

thus causing the Company’s securities to be overvalued and artificially inflated at all relevant 

times. Defendants’ materially false and/or misleading statements during the Class Period resulted 

in Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the Company’s securities at artificially 

inflated prices, thus causing the damages complained of herein. 

LOSS CAUSATION 

31. Defendants’ wrongful conduct, as alleged herein, directly and proximately caused 

the economic loss suffered by Plaintiff and the Class. During the Class Period, Plaintiff and the 

Class purchased NanoViricides securities at artificially inflated prices and were damaged 

thereby. The price of the Company’s securities significantly declined when the 

misrepresentations made to the market, and/or the information alleged herein to have been 

concealed from the market, and/or the effects thereof, were revealed, causing investors’ losses. 

SCIENTER ALLEGATIONS 

32. As alleged herein, Defendants acted with scienter in that Defendants knew that 

the public documents and statements issued or disseminated in the name of the Company were 

materially false and/or misleading; knew that such statements or documents would be issued or 

disseminated to the investing public; and knowingly and substantially participated or acquiesced 

in the issuance or dissemination of such statements or documents as primary violations of the 

federal securities laws. As set forth elsewhere herein in detail, Defendants, by virtue of their 

receipt of information reflecting the true facts regarding NanoViricides, their control over, and/or 
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receipt and/or modification of NanoViricides’ allegedly materially misleading misstatements 

and/or their associations with the Company which made them privy to confidential proprietary 

information concerning NanoViricides, participated in the fraudulent scheme alleged herein. 

APPLICABILITY OF PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE 
(FRAUD-ON-THE-MARKET DOCTRINE) 

 
33. The market for NanoViricides securities was open, well developed and efficient at 

all relevant times. As a result of the materially false and/or misleading statements and/or failures 

to disclose, NanoViricides securities traded at artificially inflated prices during the Class Period. 

Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise acquired the Company=s 

securities relying upon the integrity of the market price of NanoViricides securities and market 

information relating to NanoViricides, and have been damaged thereby. 

34. During the Class Period, the artificial inflation of NanoViricides stock was caused 

by the material misrepresentations and/or omissions particularized in this Complaint causing the 

damages sustained by Plaintiff and other members of the Class. As described herein, during the 

Class Period, Defendants made or caused to be made a series of materially false and/or 

misleading statements about NanoViricides’ business, operations and financial prospects. These 

material misstatements and/or omissions created an unrealistically positive assessment of 

NanoViricides and its business and financial condition, thus causing the price of the Company=s 

securities to be artificially inflated at all relevant times, and when disclosed, negatively affected 

the value of the Company stock. Defendants’ materially false and/or misleading statements 

during the Class Period resulted in Plaintiff and other members of the Class purchasing the 

Company=s securities at such artificially inflated prices, and each of them has been damaged as a 

result.  
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35. At all relevant times, the market for NanoViricides securities was an efficient 

market for the following reasons, among others: 

(a)  NanoViricides stock met the requirements for listing, and was listed and 

actively traded on the NYSE, a highly efficient and automated market; 

(b)  As a regulated issuer, NanoViricides filed periodic public reports with the 

SEC and/on the NYSE; 

(c)  NanoViricides routinely communicated with public investors via 

established market communication mechanisms, including through regular dissemination of 

press releases on the national circuits of major newswire services and through other wide-

ranging public disclosures, such as communications with the financial press and other similar 

reporting services; and/or 

(d) NanoViricides was followed by securities analysts employed by brokerage 

firms who wrote reports about the Company, and these reports were distributed to the sales force 

and certain customers of their respective brokerage firms. Each of these reports was publicly 

available and entered the public marketplace.  

36. As a result of the foregoing, the market for NanoViricides securities promptly 

digested current information regarding NanoViricides from all publicly available sources and 

reflected such information in NanoViricides= stock price. Under these circumstances, all 

purchasers of NanoViricides securities during the Class Period suffered similar injury through 

their purchase of NanoViricides securities at artificially inflated prices and a presumption of 

reliance applies.  
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COUNT I 
 

For Violations of §10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 
Against All Defendants 

 
37. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if 

fully set forth herein. 

38. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained above as if 

fully set forth herein. 

39. During the Class Period, Defendants carried out a plan, scheme and course of 

conduct which was intended to and, throughout the Class Period, did: (i) deceive the investing 

public, including Plaintiff and other Class members, as alleged herein; and (ii) cause Plaintiff and 

other members of the Class to purchase NanoViricides securities at artificially inflated prices. In 

furtherance of this unlawful scheme, plan and course of conduct, Defendants, and each of them, 

took the actions set forth herein. 

40. Defendants (i) employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (ii) made 

untrue statements of material fact and/or omitted to state material facts necessary to make the 

statements not misleading; and (iii) engaged in acts, practices, and a course of business which 

operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of the Company=s securities in an effort to 

maintain artificially high market prices for NanoViricides securities in violation of Section 10(b) 

of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. All Defendants are sued either as primary participants in 

the wrongful and illegal conduct charged herein or as controlling persons as alleged below 

41. Defendants, individually and in concert, directly and indirectly, by the use, means 

or instrumentalities of interstate commerce and/or of the mails, engaged and participated in a 

continuous course of conduct to conceal adverse material information about NanoViricides’ 

business, operations and financial performance and prospects, as specified herein. 
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42. These defendants employed devices, schemes and artifices to defraud, while in 

possession of material adverse non-public information and engaged in acts, practices, and a 

course of conduct as alleged herein in an effort to assure investors of NanoViricides= value and 

performance and continued substantial growth, which included the making of, or the 

participation in the making of, untrue statements of material facts and/or omitting to state 

material facts necessary in order to make the statements made about NanoViricides and its 

business operations and financial prospects in light of the circumstances under which they were 

made, not misleading, as set forth more particularly herein, and engaged in transactions, 

practices and a course of business which operated as a fraud and deceit upon the purchasers of 

the Company=s securities during the Class Period.  

43. Each of the Individual Defendants= primary liability, and controlling person 

liability, arises from the following facts: (i) the Individual Defendants were high-level executives 

and/or directors at the Company during the Class Period and members of the Company=s 

management team or had control thereof; (ii) each of these defendants, by virtue of their 

responsibilities and activities as a senior officer and/or director of the Company, was privy to and 

participated in the creation, development and reporting of the Company=s internal budgets, plans, 

projections and/or reports; (iii) each of these defendants enjoyed significant personal contact and 

familiarity with the other defendants and was advised of, and had access to, other members of the 

Company=s management team, internal reports and other data and information about the 

Company=s finances, operations, and sales at all relevant times; and (iv) each of these defendants 

was aware of the Company=s dissemination of information to the investing public which they 

knew and/or recklessly disregarded was materially false and misleading.  
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44. The defendants had actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and/or omissions 

of material facts set forth herein, or acted with reckless disregard for the truth in that they failed 

to ascertain and to disclose such facts, even though such facts were available to them. Such 

defendants= material misrepresentations and/or omissions were done knowingly or recklessly and 

for the purpose and effect of concealing NanoViricides= financial condition from the investing 

public and supporting the artificially inflated price of its securities. As demonstrated by 

Defendants= overstatements and/or misstatements of the Company=s business, operations, 

financial well-being, and prospects throughout the Class Period, Defendants, if they did not have 

actual knowledge of the misrepresentations and/or omissions alleged, were reckless in failing to 

obtain such knowledge by deliberately refraining from taking those steps necessary to discover 

whether those statements were false or misleading.  

45. As a result of the dissemination of the materially false and/or misleading 

information and/or failure to disclose material facts, as set forth above, the market price of 

NanoViricides securities was artificially inflated during the Class Period. In ignorance of the fact 

that market prices of the Company=s securities were artificially inflated, and relying directly or 

indirectly on the false and misleading statements made by Defendants, or upon the integrity of 

the market in which the securities trades, and/or in the absence of material adverse information 

that was known to or recklessly disregarded by Defendants, but not disclosed in public 

statements by Defendants during the Class Period, Plaintiff and the other members of the Class 

acquired NanoViricides securities during the Class Period at artificially high prices and were 

damaged thereby. 

46. At the time of said misrepresentations and/or omissions, Plaintiff and other 

members of the Class were ignorant of their falsity, and believed them to be true. Had Plaintiff 
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and the other members of the Class and the marketplace known the truth regarding 

NanoViricides and it business and prospects, which were not disclosed by Defendants, Plaintiff 

and other members of the Class would not have purchased or otherwise acquired their 

NanoViricides securities, or, if they had acquired such securities during the Class Period, they 

would not have done so at the artificially inflated prices which they paid. 

47. By virtue of the foregoing, Defendants have violated Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.  

48. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and 

the other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their respective purchases 

and sales of the Company=s securities during the Class Period. 

COUNT II 
 

For Violations of §20(a) of the Exchange Act 
Against All Defendants 

 
49. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation contained in the 

foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

50. The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of NanoViricides within 

the meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein. By virtue of their high-level 

positions, and their ownership and contractual rights, participation in and/or awareness of the 

Company=s operations and/or intimate knowledge of the false statements filed by the Company 

with the SEC and disseminated to the investing public, the Individual Defendants had the power 

to influence and control and did influence and control, directly or indirectly, the decision making 

of the Company, including the content and dissemination of the various statements which 

Plaintiff contends are false and misleading. The Individual Defendants were provided with or 

had unlimited access to copies of the Company=s reports, press releases, public filings and other 
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statements alleged by Plaintiff to be misleading prior to and/or shortly after these statements 

were issued and had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or cause the statements 

to be corrected.  

51. In particular, the Individual Defendants had direct and supervisory involvement in 

the day-to-day operations of the Company and, therefore, are presumed to have had the power to 

control or influence the particular transactions giving rise to the securities violations as alleged 

herein, and exercised the same.  

52. As set forth above, NanoViricides and the Individual Defendants each violated 

Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 by their acts and/or omissions as alleged in this Complaint. By 

virtue of their positions as controlling persons, the Individual Defendants are liable pursuant to 

Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants= wrongful 

conduct, Plaintiff and other members of the Class suffered damages in connection with their 

purchases of the Company=s securities during the Class Period.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment, as follows: 
 
A.  Determining that this action is a proper class action under Rule 23 of the Federal  

Rules of Civil Procedure; 

B. Awarding compensatory damages in favor of Plaintiff and the other Class 

members against all Defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained as a result of 

Defendants= wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest thereon; 

C. Awarding Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in 

this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; and  

D. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 
 


